IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KRISTOPHER SANDERS,

Appellant,

vs. : Case No. 87,231

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee. :

:

FILED

SID J. WHITE

FEB 17 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Departy Clerk

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

STEVEN L. BOLOTIN
Assistant Public Defender
FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0236365

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. 0. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Kristopher Sanders was charged by indictment filed June 2, 1994, in Pasco County with the first degree murder of Henry L. Clark (1/16-17). A jury trial was held September 26-28, 1995, and appellant was found guilty as charged (2/270; 9/609). Following the penalty phase, the jury recommended by a vote of 8-4 that appellant be sentenced to death (2/281; 11/971). On January 18, 1996, Circuit Judge William R. Webb imposed the death penalty, finding that the single aggravating factor he considered ("cold, calculated, and premeditated") outweighed the mitigating circumstances present (2/307-14; 4/595-606).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Trial

During the early morning hours of April 26, 1994, Pasco County Sheriff's officers, responding to a report of a drunk driver passed out behind the wheel of a truck, discovered the body of a white male, later identified as Henry Clark (6/224-26,234-37,249-50). The pickup truck was parked, facing northbound, on the east side of Old Dixie Highway, in an area of Hudson known as the Mines (6/224, 234-35,249-50). The driver was slumped over to his right and there was a large amount of blood on his clothing and on the driver's side of the vehicle (6/225-26,237,251-53,270). Bullet wounds to the right temple and the top of the head were visible (6/227,237, 250).

Inside the truck, a large sum of money was in plain view on the underside of the sun visor (6/226, 228, 233, 244, 253-54). There was also some money in a pair of jeans folded on the seat of the truck, and inside a pouch (6/244-45,253-54). Crime scene technician Boekeloo determined that there was a total of \$2,379.30 left inside the truck; \$1,330 in the visor, \$1,020 in the jeans, and \$29.30 in the pouch (6/254). There were two bags of marijuana on the seat next to the deceased (6/254). Boekeloo later found more marijuana after searching the vehicle; the total amount was 215 grams (6/254-55,277). He also found a postman's scale, but he did not find any cocaine (6/255,277). An eighteen inch long cattle prod or "stun gun" was found under the driver's seat, within the driver's reach (6/265-66,277-78). It carries a nine-volt battery, but has a transformer to give it a much larger voltage shock (6/265-66). Boekeloo also found a second stun qun and some pepper spray in the back of the truck (6/278).

Outside the truck, the police officers observed what appeared to be bare footprints, beginning at the passenger-side door and going southward behind the truck along the side of the road for about 60-100 feet, whereupon they curved into the roadway and stopped (6226,229-30,235-36,243-46,253,256-57,278). About 80 feet behind the truck was a gold chain with two charms on it; one was an S and the other a Giants team pendant (6/236,243-44,246,256,267,278-79). [This necklace was identified in court by the deceased's brother as belonging to Henry Clark (7/385-86)].

When the associate medical examiner arrived at the scene at about 8:00 a.m., a .9 millimeter spent shell casing was found on the floorboard of the truck, between the seat and the driver's door (6/242-43,255-56,264; 7/301,404). Boekeloo found one bullet hole located behind the driver's left side, and another bullet hole in a doorpost right behind the window (6/256). He then looked down and recovered a bullet (6/256,265).

Boekeloo lifted two palm prints from the truck; one near the door handle on the passenger door, and the other toward the rear of the truck bed on the passenger side (6/257-58). [A latent print examiner with the Sheriff's office subsequently testified that these prints matched appellant's right palm (7/381-83).

Dr. Robert Davis, the associate medical examiner, went to the scene, where he observed a deceased male in the green GMC pickup (8/404-05). He saw stippling in the area of the wound to the temple, and concluded that (although it was definitely not a contact wound) the shot had been fired at close range (8/405-06,411,424-25). At trial, he estimated the distance at maybe an inch to an inch and a half, though he acknowledged that he had said in his deposition that it could have been up to a foot away(8/424-26). His observations inside the truck and his medical findings were consistent with Henry Clark having been shot by a person who was sitting in the passenger seat (8/453).

Dr. Davis performed an autopsy and determined that Henry Clark had sustained three bullet wounds; one to the right side of the head; one near the top of the head; and a third which entered the

upper arm, fractured the clavicle, and travelled toward the back of the neck (8/407-08,411-12,414-16). Dr. Davis could not tell the sequence of the shots, but the first two wounds were each fatal, and would have caused death very rapidly, within a matter of seconds (8/414,416-17,422,428). Dr. Davis estimated the time of death between 10:00 p.m. to 1:00 a.m. (8/419).

Testing revealed that Henry Clark's urine had cocaine and cocaine metabolites, while his blood had cocaine metabolites only (8/419). The test results do not distinguish between crack cocaine and other forms of cocaine (8/427). Dr. Davis thought it was unlikely that Clark would have been using cocaine within minutes of his death (8/420-21). Clark also had marijuana in his system; there was no way to determine when he would have used it (8/421-22,427-28). There was no alcohol in his system (8/422).

The bullet fragments which were removed from Henry Clark's body were examined by an FDLE firearms analyst, who testified that they were nine millimeter Luger caliber, and they were fired from the same firearm (8/430-31,435). The markings were consistent with the bullets having been fired from either of two possible kinds of firearm; a Highpoint automatic or a Standard Arms (8/435-36).

Barbara Jean Mock was an acquaintance of appellant and Joey Duckett; she did not know Henry Clark (7/285-86,289-90). In April, 1994, she would see appellant when she was at Duckett's house; it appeared to her that he was staying there (7/290). One day in mid-April, while a group of people including Wayne Sargent, Ole Anderson, Eddie Gibbs, Judd, and a pregnant woman were present, Ms.

Mock heard Joey Duckett tell appellant that Hank needed to die (7/286-87,291). Appellant responded that he would do it (7/287). The conversation was spoken loudly enough so that everyone could hear it (7/291). Ms. Mock did not know whether they were serious, or how to take it (7/288,298). Some of the people -- including appellant, Joey, and Wayne -- were high on drugs at the time, but Ms. Mock testified that she wasn't smoking (7/291,298-99).

Detective Clifford Blum interviewed appellant on May 23, 1994 (7/301-04,310-11). Blum read appellant his <u>Miranda</u> rights (7/302-03,311). He testified that appellant's demeanor was calm, and he did not appear to be under the influence of alcohol or drugs (7/361).

In his statement to Detective Blum, appellant admitted to killing Hank Clark (7/311-12). Clark was into using a lot of rock cocaine -- four to five hundred dollars a night (7/313-14). He came up with the money by selling drugs (7/314). Joey Duckett ordered the killing (7/327, 338). A lot of people were involved in and knew about the plan to kill Clark, including (in addition to Duckett and appellant) Wayne (Sargent), George (Nashef), Ole (Anderson) and Eddie Gibbs (7/328-29,331-32,339). Detective Blum asked:

What was George's involvement? What was he -- what was he planning?

- A. He's the coke man.
- Q. How was -- how did he get involved in the plan or whatever?
- A. That's the whole purpose, stop Hank, it cuts Hank out of the crack so he can move in,

'cause I guess he's got some kind of big deals with cocaine up in Ft. Lauderdale.

- Q. George's brother or something like that, right?
 - A. Yeah.
 - O. Yeah.
 - A. That's his brother.
- Q. That's his brother, or that's what he's calling him. Got the drugs or that's what he's told me.
 - A. Yeah.¹

(7/329-30).

Joey Duckett owed Hank Clark \$1,200 (7/327). A couple of weeks before the killing was supposed to occur, Duckett paid appellant \$900 (7/327-28,343). Appellant was supposed to rob Clark and "make sure all his clients see what he done" (7/330). The gun -- a.9 millimeter Highpoint -- belonged to Ole, and it was brought to appellant by Wayne (7/319,328,331,333,339,360). During the interrogation, Detective Blum told appellant, "I don't want you standing alone. I want the guys that were involved in it" (7/322, see 7/359). Blum also stated "... now you've done the right thing and you told us what you did and you told us who did it, I mean, who put you up to it, and that's important for us to know and that's Joey. So Joey being in jail is a good thing and Joey is in jail" (7/338).

 $^{^{\}rm 1}$ Detective Blum testified that no last name for George was mentioned during the interview. Blum subsequently attempted to locate George, and did find him $(7/363-64)\,.$

A couple of weeks before the killing was supposed to happen, Hank Clark picked appellant up at Charlie's house, where some of the group were sniffing nitrous oxide (7/332-33,344). Hank and appellant drove to Tampa, where they bought \$450 worth of crack (7/312-13). Appellant had the gun with him, inside his pants where Hank couldn't see it, because "when we're going to Tampa, dude, I'm not going to take the chance of being shot" (7/319). When they got back to Pasco County, they stopped at a convenience store, where appellant bought a six-pack of soda and called Joey Duckett to tell him where he was (7/313,345-56). They then drove around a little bit "hitting the stem every now and then", and decided to pull over and smoke some rocks (7/313,317). Hank changed his mind about selling any of the rock; he wanted to smoke it (7/313). He parked on the side of the road. Appellant told him it was not a cool place because they'd seen a cop drive by, but Hank didn't care (7/317). Hank was going to sit there and smoke up all of appellant's stuff too, and "[i]t was pissing me off" (7/315). Appellant told him to slow down, he was going to get fucked up and they weren't going to have any left, but Hank kept on smoking (7/315). Appellant took the stem away from him, and Hank got pissed off (7/315). "The dude started flipping out, man, over nothing (7/314). When Hank reached down and grabbed the cattle prod (which appellant knew was under the seat), appellant reacted too fast without thinking; he pulled the gun and fired four shots (7/315-18,355). He thought that one shot went in Hank's neck, two in the head, and one in the

chest (7/316,318-19). The shots were fired from a distance of within two feet (7/319,363). Appellant told Detective Blum:

I just -- when I pulled it I just -- I didn't react the right way, man. I wasn't thinking, dude. I was fucked up.

- Q. I'll bet. Ya know, I mean (inaudible).
- A. Piss on his life, man. I have no remorse for it, ya know, I really don't, because it just means it's one less face in the world I have to deal with, dude, but, I mean, I was fucked up, dude.
- Q. Yeah.
- A. And he fucking -- ya know, he just jumped too quick. And I'm -- I'm an aggressive person when it comes to shit like that 'cause I don't want to be taken out, dude. Ya know, I could sit here and tell you I don't want to die. It doesn't matter if I die, dude --
- Q. Yeah.
- A. -- but I don't want somebody else to take me, ya know what I mean?
- Q. I hear ya.
- A. And I just flipped, dude.
- O. So you reacted --
- A. Too fast.
- Q. Okay.
- A. I should've used my head, but I didn't.

(7/318).

Appellant told Blum the shooting wasn't intentional and it wasn't even a robbery; it just happened (7/314,328,355). It wasn't supposed to happen for another two weeks (7/328,330). Asked by

Blum if he would have done it then, appellant said he probably would have (7/353).

Appellant told Detective Blum he picked up three of the shell casings but he left one in the truck on purpose; asked why he did that he said, "I don't know, just stupid" (7/316,318-19). Appellant wasn't there to steal anything from Hank, and the only money he knew of that Hank had on him was what he had paid for the rock cocaine (7/326,355). Appellant took the rest of his rock, and he took twenty dollars that was sitting in the ashtray, so he could get a cab if he didn't have a way to get home (7/322-23,326). He adamantly insisted that he did not take any gold chain or necklace, nor was he aware of Hank's having a gold necklace (7/320,322,325-26, 340,343).

Appellant got out of the truck and began walking southbound (7/324,345). He dropped the gun in the bushes, then changed his mind and retrieved it (7/324,349) Then -- within thirty seconds of when he got out of the truck -- a car went by. Appellant ducked, and then realized it was George, so he got in the car (7/322-23, 326,335-36,339,345,349).

Appellant gave Detective Blum several explanations of how George had come to pick him up. At one point he stated that after the shooting he had walked to the pay phone by the bait store and called George to come get him (7/323-24). Later, when Blum asked him if he had to walk a long way, appellant replied:

- Q. Well, yeah, but I mean how long did it take you to get to that bait shop?
 - A. I don't know where it is, dude.
 - Q. George just came and got you?
- A. George knew what **was** going on. George followed me everywhere, dude.
 - O. He followed you up there?
- A. Yeah, he followed 'cause he wanted to make sure, you know what I mean, anything did decide to happen, see. See, George is smart (inaudible).
 - Q. Yeah.
- A. He followed me. And I didn't know he was following me, that **was** the car that went by. And then when I realized who it was I stopped and got in the car with him, dude.

(7/335).

Appellant told Blum that when he and Hank Clark had stopped at the convenience store after returning from Tampa, he had called Joey Duckett:

- . . told him where I was at. Joey knew everything. I always let somebody know where I am --
 - 0. Where you are.
- A. You know what I'm saying? So they'd know --
 - Q. Yeah.
- A. And I guess that's when he probably told George.
 - Q. Sent George out there.
 - A. Yeah.
 - Q. Now, was -

- A. I didn't tell him that was going to happen.
 - Q. Right, just that --
 - A. I just told him what was going on.
 - O. That you were with Hank and all that.
- A. Yeah. And then I guess he sent George out to look after me, dude. As soon as George -- I saw George it was like wow. I didn't have no idea George was there, dude, he just went. When he drove by I just hollered his name and he stopped and I knew it was him, man. I didn't even realize it was him at first.

(7/346)

Appellant told Detective Blum that the whole reason "for [George] coming to pick me up was for him to go to Ft. Lauderdale to pick up half [a] ki" (7/339). Asked whether George was expecting to get money from Hank, appellant said "I guess so", but George could not have grabbed a gold chain from Hank because George didn't get out of his car (7/339-40). Appellant reiterated that he knew nothing about any chain (7/340).

George drove appellant back to Joey Duckett's house, where appellant showered and changed his clothes (7/327,334,350,352,354). Appellant never actually told Joey it was done, but Joey knew it from appellant's face and from the blood on his shirt (7/327,337). Appellant burned the clothes and put them in a trash can on another street (7/321-22). Wayne disposed of the gun (7/319-20,333-34,341-42,355).

Another detective, Rodney Bishop, testified that after appellant gave the statement to Detective Blum, he [Bishop] was alone

with appellant in the interview room (7/388-89). Bishop asked appellant if he'd like a glass of water; appellant declined, but made some statements: "I keep hearing gunshots, I wish I didn't do it, but shit happens", and "Nothing really matters, I'm going to the electric chair anyway" (7/389).

George Nashef testified that in the early evening of April 25, 1994, he was at Joey Duckett's house, sitting around with a few people smoking a joint (8/446,446-67,488). A phone call came in from appellant (8/446). George was requested to go to the Lasalle Apartments to see him (8/446-47). When he got there, appellant said that Hank was coming to pick appellant up (8/447). George was to wait a few minutes, and then come pick him up at Belcher's Mine (8/447-48). A teal green pickup truck came and appellant got in; George did not see the driver (8/448). After the truck drove off, George waited around for a while and then drove to the Mines (8/449). As he was going north on Old Dixie Highway, between 9:00 and 11:00 p.m., appellant jumped out of the bushes and flagged him down (8/449-50). Appellant had blood on his face and clothing (8/450). George told him he wasn't going to get in his car covered with blood, and he needed to take his shirt off (8/450-51,497). Appellant complied and got in the car; he wrapped the gun in his shirt and put it under the passenger seat (8/451). In George's opinion, appellant did not appear to be high on alcohol or drugs (8/455).

George turned the car around and drove off heading south (8/451,490). Appellant was saying, "I killed him. I killed him.

He wouldn't die" (8/452). Appellant showed George a tiny gold chain and 100 dollars in twenties, which he said he got from either Hank or the vehicle (8/452,455).

When they got back to Joey Duckett's house, Joey came out and met them (8/453). He asked appellant if he had done it, and appellant said he did (8/453). There was a party going on in the house (8/453,466-67,497). George went in the front door; appellant went in through the garage (8/453,467). Only appellant and Joey Duckett were in the garage (8/489). When George saw appellant afterwards, it appeared that he had showered. (There was a shower in the garage) (8/453,489). Appellant told him the clothing went into the washing machine (8/453).

George testified that he didn't report what had happened because he was scared (8/453-54). In late November, 1994, Detective Cliff Blum found him in Sebring, Florida (8/454). At that time George denied any involvement in the case (8/454). Later, he told Detective Blum what he knew about the case "in more detail the second time" (8/454). Asked to explain his initial denial of any knowledge, George testified that he was scared and didn't want to be a witness (8/454).

On cross, George Nashef acknowledged that he talked to Detective Blum on at least three different occasions -- November 30, 1994, December 8, 1994, and February 23, 1995 (8/456-57). George admitted that he told Blum different stories, and that he lied (8/457, see 8/456-62,464-65,480-83). He also admitted that he lied under oath in a deposition given February 16, 1995 (8/457).

On November 30, George did not tell Detective Blum anything about going out to pick appellant up at the Mines (8/464). On December 8, he told Blum he picked up appellant, who had blood on him and said he'd just killed somebody, but George left out the part about his going over to the Lasalle Apartments and following appellant to the Mines (8/485-87). George told Blum that part on February 23 (8/487). In the February 16 deposition, George had stated that he was asked by Joey Duckett to pick appellant up at the Mines (8/478-79). At trial, George acknowledged making this statement under oath, but testified that it was a lie (8/479).

George attributed his changing stories and his reluctance to being a witness to fear (8/454,461,481-84,487). He didn't want to incriminate himself, or have anything to do with it (8/481). He claimed that if he had known something was going to happen, he wouldn't have picked appellant up (8/481).

- Q. [by defense counsel]: Now, were you also afraid of being prosecuted for something else?
- A. I was afraid of being killed for knowing too much; that's what I was afraid of.
 - Q. Were you afraid of being prosecuted?
 - A, No. I was afraid of being killed.
 - Q. But you knew Kris Sanders was in jail?
 - A. Well, is that going to stop Joey?

(8/481-82).

George also stated that his differing versions of events were "most probably" due to ${\bf a}$ memory problem (8/483). Whether or not he

was under oath would have no effect "[o]n whether I can remember or not, no it doesn't" (8/483).

- Q. [by defense counsel]: And you remembered one version from November up until February 16th, and then you remembered something else a week later, is that what you're saying?
 - A. Could have happened, yes.

(8/483).

On redirect, the prosecutor asked George Nashef:

Mr. Swisher asked you the question, if you knew Kris Sanders was in jail . . . , why were you afraid, do you remember that question?

- A. Yes.
- Q. To your knowledge, did Kris Sanders hang around with a group of people?
 - A. Yes, he did.
- Q. Were you concerned about this group of people?
 - A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Were you concerned about your own safety?
 - A. Very much, yes, sir.
- Q. And the fact that Kris Sanders was in jail at the time that you talked to Detective Blum, were you still concerned about your safety?
 - A. Yes, I was.

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