IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAY 20 1997

CLERK, SUPERME COURT

KRISTOPHER SANDERS,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar I.D. No. 0134101 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607 (813)873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE



CASE NO. 87,231

÷

_

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

ISSUE III. The lower court did not err in improperly failing to consider allegedly disparate treatment accorded to Joey Duckett; in fact, the court did give it some slight weight as a nonstatutory mitigator as explained in the sentencing order.

ISSUE IV. The lower court did not err in permitting Dr. Merin to testify as a state rebuttal witness at penalty phase since the record is clear that Dr. Merin did not consider any material or hear confidential matters from the defendant in the abortive attempt of the defense to hire Dr. Merin.

ISSUE V. The lower court did not err in rejecting appellant's age of twenty years as a mitigating factor. Cf. <u>Merck.</u> <u>v. State</u>, 664 So. 2d 939 (Fla. 1995). The lower court properly considered non-age asserted mitigation in the non-statutory mitigation section.

ISSUE VI. The imposition of a sentence of death is not disproportionate in this contract-execution style murder. <u>Mordenti</u> <u>v. State</u>, 630 So. 2d 1080 (Fla. 1994). The CCP factor is weighty. <u>Ferrell v. State</u>, 680 So. 2d 390 (Fla. 1996).

ISSUE VII. The lower court did not err reversibly in failing to instruct the jury on the penalty of life without parole. The claim is unpreserved for Sanders' acquiescing to the court's ruling that prior case law precluded it and the claim is meritless as this court has determined that the statutory amendment applies to offenses committed after the effective date of May 24, 1995.

ISSUE VIII. The CCP jury instruction did not relieve the state of its burden of proof and usurp the jury's fact finding function. The claim is not preserved by objection at the trial court level and the jury would understand from the context of the

instruction that if they found the singular offered aggravator there must then be a weighing process with the mitigators.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED REVERSIBLY IN EXCUSING FOR CAUSE PROSPECTIVE JUROR CLAIR PAYEUR.

(1) Prospective Juror Payeur -

Prior to the attorneys questioning prospective jurors on voir dire this colloquy occurred between the court and prospective juror Payeur (Vol. V, R 38-39):

Before allowing the attorneys to question you concerning your qualifications to serve as a juror in this case, I have a few general questions for you.

Are any of you opposed to the death penalty? If so, please signify -- and I'm addressing the jurors in the box at this time -- if so, please signify by raising your hands.

All right. Ms. Payeur?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR PAYEUR: Right.

THE COURT: All right. Ms. Payeur, would your views on the death penalty prevent or substantially impair your ability to judge the guilt or innocence of Kristopher Sanders in this case?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR PAYEUR: No.

THE COURT: All right. <u>Would vou</u> <u>automatically vote against imposition of the</u> <u>death penalty without regard to the evidence</u> <u>shown or the instructions of the Court in all</u> <u>cases?</u>

PROSPECTIVE JUROR PAYEUR: <u>Yes.</u> THE COURT: All right. Thank you, ma'am.

(emphasis supplied)

The prosecutor moved to excuse Payeur for cause because by her answer she would refuse to consider the death penalty regardless of the facts. Defense counsel expressed the desire to try and rehabilitate the juror (Vol. V, R 40) and this colloquy ensued:

THE COURT: Let me ask you this, Mr. Swisher. What possible clarification, in light of her answer, would remove her from being unable to serve?

MR. SWISHER: A series of questions that I go through. I don't think some people understand the magnitude of what they are saying. Once they understand that, perhaps, they need to follow the law even if they don't agree with it becomes something that they can adjust to. And I'd like a chance to try to do that with her.

THE COURT: <u>I'm aoina to pose some</u> additional questions of Ms. Paveur to make sure that there's no iquity or mj sunderstanding on her part, but if she confirms that previous answer, then I'm going to excuse her for cause.

MR. SWISHER: <u>May I suggest one line of</u> <u>questioning</u>, or -- not suggesting a question, <u>but something along the lines of</u>, suppose Your Honor was opposed to the death penalty, <u>you</u> <u>are</u> sworn to uphold the law, even if the iurv <u>comes back with a recommendation of death</u>, <u>you</u> <u>cannot iust follow your feelings asainst the</u> <u>death penalty</u>. You have to follow the law. <u>I</u> <u>think if she understands that a Judge</u> -- 1 <u>don't mean necessarily you</u>, <u>but a Judge</u>, <u>maybe</u> <u>some Judges are opposed to it</u>, <u>but they have</u> <u>to follow the law</u>, and she is sworn as a <u>juror</u>. she must do the same thing.

THE COURT: State opposed to that?

MR. HALKITIS: Well, it's difficult for me to understand the type of questioning because it seems almost identical to the question the Court asked, would you refuse to consider the death penalty regardless of any facts that are brought to you. I have no problem with either way the Court wants to ask the question. I think the Court is capable of asking at least a number of questions of this juror to find out if she can be fair and impartial and her views will not preclude her from following the law. <u>I have no objection</u> to whatever guestions the Court-feels are appropriate.

THE COURT: All right.

(OPEN COURT.)

THE COURT: Ms. Payeur, I don't want you to think I'm picking on you, but I want to pose just a couple of additional questions to you.

Were you able to understand my instructions to the jury as a whole that the jury, if we get to the second phase of the trial, will be requested to arrive at an advisory recommendation as to either life imprisonment or the imposition of the death penalty?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR PAYEUR: <u>I personally</u> <u>feel that j f it sets to that point, then I</u> <u>would ask to submit my vote -- 1 would sav</u> <u>life in prison over the death penalty. This</u> <u>is how I feel.</u>

THE COURT: I understand that. Now let me ask you this: Do you understand that during the -- if we get to the second phase, that is the penalty phase of this trial, that the jury will receive additional evidence that they may consider, either of an aggravating nature or of a mitigating nature? Do vou feel that your feelings concerning the death penalty would not enable you to receive and listen to the aggravating factors and the mitigating factors and to render an advisory verdict as to the imposition of the death penalty or life imprisonment because of these feelings?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR PAYEUR: <u>I think my</u> feelings would interfere with that.

THE COURT: Okay. And so -- I don't want to put words in your mouth, <u>but are vou saving</u> <u>it woulmake</u> anv difference what <u>aggravating factors or what mitigating factors</u> <u>you heard, that you would not vote for the</u> <u>recommendation of the death penalty</u> <u>regardless?</u>

PROSPECTIVE JUROR PAYEUR: That 's ri t. That's correct.

THE COURT: All right, Thank you.

At this time, I will excuse Ms. Sands and Ms. **Payeur.** You may return to the central jury room.

(emphasis supplied) (Vol. V, R 40-43)

The defense counsel objected that he felt he should have had the chance to try and rehabilitate and that to excuse her at this time would be violative of the Constitution. The motion was denied. (Vol. V, R 44)

(2) Rule 3.300(b), Rules of Crim. Procedure provides:

(b) Examination. The court may then examine each prospective juror individually or examine the mav prospective jurors collectively. Counsel for both the state and defendant shall have the right to examine jurors orally on their voir dire. The order in which the parties may examine each juror shall be determined by the court. The right of the parties to conduct an examination of each juror orally shall be preserved,

In the instant case prior to either counsel commencing any voir dire examination juror Payeur definitively and prospective repetitively informed the trial court that she would refuse to consider the death penalty regardless of the facts (Vol V, R 40-43). After her initial and unequivocal answers the court inquired possible clarification would of counsel what remove her disqualification to serve and counsel suggested reminding jurors that they need to follow the law even if they don't agree with it. The court responded that it would pose additional questions to make sure there was no ambiguity or misunderstanding on her part. The defense suggested "something along the lines of" informing her that

judges too must follow the law and "you cannot just follow your feelings against the death penalty". Counsel suggested informing the juror "she must do the same thing".

When the court then prodded prospective juror Payeur by asking if her feelings would not enable her to receive and listen to aggravating and mitigating factors and to render an advisory verdict, Payeur thought her feelings would 'interfere with that" and when asked if it wouldn't make any difference what she heard that she would not recommend death regardless, she answered:

"That's right. That's correct."

(Vol. V, R 43)

The state submits that there has been no violation of Rule 3.300(b). Prospective juror Payeur had unequivocally and decisively demonstrated her refusal and unwillingness to abide by the law <u>even prior to any voir dire by the respective counsel</u>. Additionally, appellee submits defense counsel's suggestion to the court to pursue the line that judges are required to follow the law as well as citizens constituted an adequate alternative to questioning by defense counsel. The trial court's subsequent interrogation leading to reaffirmation of the juror's adamant refusal to follow the law must be deemed sufficient, especially in the absence of a proffer by the defense at trial explaining why the trial court's questions were deemed inadequate and why additional specific questions (never identified below) would be necessary to

determine the juror's qualifications to sit. Appellant cites O'Connell v. State, 480 So. 2d 1284 (Fla. 1985) but there the conviction was set aside because the defense was denied the opportunity to rehabilitate excused jurors after the prosecutor had elicited their views on his examination and the prosecutor had been permitted to re-examine jurors after cause challenges for rehabilitation -- a double standard that amounted to a violation of In <u>Hernandez v. State</u>, 621 So. 2d 1353 (Fla. 1993) due process. this Court vacated the death sentence (but allowed the conviction to remain intact) where a juror who had given equivocal and inconsistent responses (could recommend death, but did not believe in capital punishment) was improperly excused without providing the defense an opportunity to rehabilitate when the juror had initially answered that he could recommend death if the crime were aggravated enough. Unlike <u>Hernandez</u>, the juror in the instant case had expressed no equivocation whatsoever in her refusal to consider the death penalty as an available option. Rehabilitation presupposes equivocation or ambiguity.

In <u>Willacy v. State</u>, 640 So. 2d 1079 (Fla. 1994) the Court vacated the sentence and remanded for a new sentencing proceeding when the juror had expressed her opposition to the death penalty upon the prosecutor's voir dire examination and the defense was denied the opportunity to rehabilitate apparently either by asking any questions or by proposing to the court a line of inquiry for

the court to propound. Here, in contrast, there was repeated inquiry by the court and the defense had suggested a line of questioning to the court for inquiry of the juror, the juror consistently and adamantly maintained an inability or unwillingness to consider aggravation and mitigation and decide on the death penalty if appropriate; the defense below failed to proffer a why it deemed the court's questions to have been reason inadequate.² See <u>Fleckinger v. State</u>, 642 So. 2d 35 (Fla. 4DCA 1994), rev. den., 650 So. 2d 989 (Fla. 1994) (not an abuse of discretion for trial court to excuse prospective juror without defense counsel to examine juror once it allowing became conclusively clear to trial court after questioning juror that there was no reasonable basis to anticipate that juror could return a verdict). In light of the uncompromising quality of juror Payeur's repeated responses to the court's inquiry, even if trial counsel had been able to successfully yield a subsequent ambiguous or contradictory response, the trial court could have excluded Payeur for badly vacillating. See Randolph v. State, 562 So. 2d 331 (Fla. 1990).

²Indeed, the questions propounded by the trial court appear to be more suitable than the defense suggested inquiry to compare the situation to a judge who may personally oppose the death penalty. Cf. <u>Watson v</u> State 651 So. 2d 1159, 1162 (Fla. 1994) (acknowledging that counsel's obscure questions can lead to ambiguous responses).

Finally, any error is harmless. Juror Payeur was excused at the beginning of jury selection and had the trial court not excused her, undoubtedly the prosecutor would have exercised an available challenge. (The state did not deem it necessary to peremptory exercise a peremptory challenge throughout.) (Vol. V, R 1-176), Appellant cannot benefit from the decision in Gray v. Mississippi, 481 U.S. 648, 95 L.Ed.2d 622 (1987) precluding harmless error analysis because in <u>Gray</u> unlike the instant case there was an improper excusal for cause (juror Bounds could reach either a guilty or not guilty verdict and could vote to impose a death sentence) . Sub judice, juror Fayeur was properly excluded for her adamant refusal to consider the law with respect to the penalty phase where a death sentence might be imposed. Thus, the question is whether the instant record discloses harmful error in the alleged refusal to permit defense counsel to ask additional questions (not otherwise specified below) that were not satisfactorily covered in the court's inquiry. Since appellant, even now, does not explain what the juror should have been asked that was not, the court should deem error, if any, to be harmless. The 'error" certainly is as harmless as those occurring in the cases cited by Justice Wells in his dissenting opinion in Wike v. State, 648 So. 2d 683, 689-690 (Fla. 1994):

"This Court has in the past accepted the exceptional responsibility of applying harmless error analysis to many issues in the sentencing phase of a death case. See Fennie

v. State, 648 So.2d 95 (Fla.1994) (applying harmless error analysis where trial court provided an unconstitutionally vaque jury instruction for the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravating factor); Peterka v. State, 640 So.2d 59 (Fla.1994) (applying harmless error analysis where trial court permitted testimony regarding an unverified prior juvenile conviction during the penalty phase); Atwater v. State, 626 So.2d 1325 (Fla.1993) (finding that errors in allowing evidence of lack of remorse during penalty phase and giving of erroneous instruction for the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator were harmless), cert. denied, --- U.S. ---, 114 S.Ct. 1578, 128 L.Ed.2d 221 (1994); Duncan State, 619 So.2d 279 (Fla.1993) (finding v. that introduction of gruesome photograph during penalty phase was harmless error although the prejudicial effect of the photograph outweighed its probative value), cert. denied, --- U.S. ---, 114 S.Ct. 453, 126 L.Ed.2d 385 (1993); Clark v. State, 613 So.2d (Fla.1992) (applying harmless 412 error analysis where trial court miqht have erroneously considered the felony murder and pecuniary gain aggravators separately), cert. denied, --- U.S. ---, 114 S.Ct. 114, 126 L.Ed.2d 79 (1993); Randolph v. State, 562 So.2d 331 (Fla.1990) (finding that improper questioning of medical examiner during penalty phase constituted harmless error), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 992, 111 S.Ct. 538, 112 L.Ed.2d 548 (1990); Chandler v. State, 534 So.2d 701 (Fla.1988) (applying harmless error review to prosecutor's penalty phase comment defendant's silence), cert. denied, 490 on 109 S.Ct. 2089, 104 L.Ed.2d 652 U.S. 1075, Hardwick v. State, 521 So.2d 1071 (1989); (Fla.1988) (finding error in weiqhinq aggravating and mitigating factors harmless), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 871, 109 S.Ct. 185, 102 L.Ed.2d 154 (1988); Delap v. Dugger, 513 So.2d 659 (Fla.1987) (applying harmless error review where trial court failed to instruct jury that it could consider nonstatutory mitigating factors). The instant case illustrates why harmless error review should apply to

procedural errors in the penalty phase of a death case.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED REVERSIBLY IN SUSTAINING THE PROSECUTOR'S OBJECTION TO CROSS-EXAMINATION OF WITNESS NASHEF ABOUT HIS ALLEGED DRUG **RUNNING** ACTIVITIES.

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